
 

Walled Lake City Council Chambers | 1499 E. West Maple Rd. | Walled Lake | Phone (248) 624-4847   

NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETING 

CITY OF WALLED LAKE 

REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 

Tuesday, March 3, 2026 | 7:30 P.M. 

 

This meeting will be held via in-person hybrid phone in conference. For those who want to 

participate in person, the meeting will be held in Council Chambers located at  1499 E. West Maple 

Rd, MI 48390. For those that will attend virtually please review the credentials below.  The 

following items are on the agenda for your consideration:     

 

Traditional Telephone – Audio Only   

1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago) or 

1 888 788 0099 US Toll-free 

Meeting ID: 859 7857 8848 

City of Walled Lake’s YouTube channel: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCDwQJiyMCqMbmg9Ru-sKMEw/featured. 

 

Members of the public may also view the broadcast meeting on the City of Walled Lake’s YouTube channel: 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCDwQJiyMCqMbmg9Ru-sKMEw/featured. Closed captioning will be available after YouTube 

fully renders the meeting video.  

 

Members of the public who wish to speak during audience participation via virtual means may press *9 on their telephone keypad.  

Pressing *9 will activate the “raise hand” feature. Due to limitations with muting and unmuting members of the public will be called 

on one at a time. Please introduce yourself by stating your name and address for the record. You will have three (3) minutes to share 

your comments. At the conclusion of your three (3) minutes, you will be muted and removed from the public comment queue. 

Participants may also choose to submit written comments to the City Clerk by noon day of the meeting to clerk@walledlake.com. 

 

WELCOME & INTRODUCTION Regular Council Meeting of Tuesday, March 3, 2026   

PLEDGE TO FLAG & INVOCATION 

 

  

ROLL CALL & DETERMINATION OF 

A QUORUM 

 

 

 

 

 

REQUESTS FOR AGENDA CHANGES   

AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION Audience members will be able to speak via electronic means as instructed 

below. 

 

 

MAYOR’S REPORT 

 

1.  Discussion - Board and Commission Appointments  

ATTORNEY’S REPORT 

 

1. Request for Closed Session to discuss Confidential Attorney Client  

    Communications pursuant to Section 8 (e) of the Open Meetings Act 

  

 

NEW BUSINESS 1.  First Reading C-377-26 Amendment to Chapter 51 Zoning to amend  

     Article 16.00 Planned Unit Development  

2.  First Reading C-378-26 Amendment to Chapter 51 Zoning to amend 

     Article 30.00 Commercial Planned Unit Development 

3.  Receive and file resignation letter from Planning Commission Member 

 

Pg.3 

 

 
Pg.22 

 

Pg.31 

ADJOURNMENT   

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCDwQJiyMCqMbmg9Ru-sKMEw/featured
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCDwQJiyMCqMbmg9Ru-sKMEw/featured


Page 2 of 2 

 

The City of Walled Lake government e-mail addresses of the members of all public bodies utilizing this means of the meeting are 

available on the City’s website at: https://walledlake.us/index.php/contact-us 

 

Procedures for participation by persons with disabilities.  

The City will be following its normal procedures for the accommodation of persons with disabilities. Those individuals needing 

accommodations for effective participation in this meeting should contact the City Clerk (248) 624- 4847 in advance of the meeting. 

An attempt will be made to make reasonable accommodations.  

 

Individuals with Hearing or Speech-Impairments. 

Users that are hearing persons and deaf, hard of hearing, or speech-impaired persons can communicate by telephone by dialing 7-1-1. 

• Individuals who call will be paired with a Communications Assistant 

• Make sure to give the Communications Assistant the proper teleconference phone number and meeting ID. 

 

For more information please visit: 

https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0,9535,7-395-93308_93325_93425_94040_94041---,00.html 

 

https://walledlake.us/index.php/contact-us
https://www.michigan.gov/mpsc/0,9535,7-395-93308_93325_93425_94040_94041---,00.html


 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

City of Walled Lake ∙ 1499 E. West Maple Road ∙ Walled Lake, MI 48390 ∙ (248) 624-4847 

 

To:  Walled Lake City Council 

From:  Vahan Vanerian, City Attorney 

Re:  First Reading: Proposed Amendment of PUD/CPD Zoning Ordinance  

Date:  February 24, 2026 

Attached for first reading please find proposed zoning ordinance amendments to the city’s PUD 

and CPD ordinances prepared with input from the city’s planning consultant. The amendment 

language accommodates potential future adoption of new aesthetic, façade, architectural and site 

design standards intended to enhance the appearance, functionality, connectivity and aesthetic 

quality of future developments in the city. Development of comprehensive design standards 

intended to apply to all future developments including developments utilizing the PUD or CPD 

option was discussed with the planning consultant during a recent committee meeting. The 

proposed amendments will undergo further refinement and revision through the required planning 

commission review, public hearing and recommendation process. The proposed amendment to the 

PUD ordinance incorporates the procedural revisions to section 51-16.04 recommended by the 

planning consultant.  Key features of the proposed PUD amendment include the following: 

 

• Procedural revisions as recommended and discussed by the city’s planning consultant (see 

Feb. 24th McKenna review memo and proposed text amendments) 

• Council authority to grant a modification or deviation from a zoning ordinance regulation 

or standard requires a planning commission recommendation as a prerequisite. 

• Deviations from measurable or quantifiable zoning standards may not exceed 10% above 

or below the quantifiable or measurable standard. 

• Limiting permissible deviations to only certain specified zoning standards expressly 

subject to modification or deviation upon recommendation of the planning commission. 

The ZBA may grant variances for requested deviations falling outside the scope of 

permissible deviations approvable by council under the PUD option. 

• Council approval of a PUD development requires a planning commission recommendation 

for approval as a prerequisite. 

• Council may adopt quantifiable or measurable standards for negative traffic and/or 

economic impacts warranting denial or rendering the proposal ineligible under the PUD 

option 

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 3 of 31



• Compliance with all applicable project design standards, including any future design 

standards adopted by council 

• Additional more demanding preliminary eligibility criteria (e.g. higher quality 

development, quantifiable traffic and economic impact standards, permissible proposed 

deviations, etc.) 

• Additional more demanding approval criteria for a use modification or deviation allowing 

a proposed use that is not a listed principal or special land use in the underlying zoning 

district (e.g. sufficient available utility capacity, no excessive negative traffic impacts, 

higher grade improvements and site features, etc.) 
 
To further assist Council’s review of the proposed changes to the current ordinance, the first 

reading of the proposed amendment has been prepared in a red-line text revision. The proposed 

language deletions are highlighted in bold strike-through text and the proposed new language is 

highlighted in red underlined text. Current unchanged language appears in normal text.  

   

Following first reading of a proposed zoning ordinance amendment, a public hearing must be 

noticed and held by the Planning Commission in accordance with the amendment procedures set 

forth in Article 24.00 of the City’s Zoning Ordinance. Following the public hearing, the Planning 

Commission makes a non-binding recommendation to City Council regarding adoption of the 

proposed zoning ordinance amendment, including any recommended text revisions. Pursuant to 

section 24.02(c) of the City’s Zoning Ordinance, City Council may then decline to adopt the 

proposed amendment or may adopt it in whole, in part, or with or without additional changes. 

Council may also refer the proposed amendment back to Planning Commission for further study 

and review or for additional public hearings. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 4 of 31



STATE OF MICHIGAN 

COUNTY OF OAKLAND 

CITY OF WALLED LAKE 

 

ORDINANCE NO. C-377-26 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 51, “ZONING”, OF TITLE V, 

“ZONING AND PLANNING”, THE CITY OF WALLED LAKE ZONING 

ORDINANCE, TO AMEND ARTICLE 16.00 “PLANNED UNIT 

DEVELOPMENT” AS PROVIDED BY THIS ORDINANCE 

 

THE CITY OF WALLED LAKE ORDAINS:   

Section 1.  Purpose 

 

 The purpose of this Zoning Ordinance Amendment is to implement section 503 of the 

Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, MCL 125.3503, by amending Article 16.00 “Planned Unit 

Development” of the City of Walled Lake zoning ordinance as provided by this ordinance.  

 

Section 2.  Amendment to Article 16.00 

 

 The City of Walled Lake Zoning Ordinance, Article 16.00 “Planned Unit 

Development” is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows: 

 

ARTICLE 16.00. PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD) 

Sec. 51-16.01. Intent. 

(a) It is the intent of this article to authorize the use of planned unit development regulations for the purposes 
of encouraging the use of land in accordance with its character and adaptability; conserving natural 
resources, natural features and energy; encouraging innovation in land use planning; providing enhanced 
housing, employment, shopping, traffic circulation and recreational opportunities for the people of this city; 
ensuring compatibility of design and use between neighboring properties; and, encouraging development 
that is consistent with the city's master plan.  

(b) The provisions of this article are not intended as a device for ignoring the zoning ordinance and specific 
standards set forth therein, or the planning upon which it has been based. To that end, provisions of this 
article are intended to result in land development substantially consistent with the zoning standards 
generally applied to the proposed uses, allowing for certain discretionary modifications and departures from 
generally applicable standards in accordance with guidelines in this article for purposes of establishing site 
specific use and development authorization under Section 503 of the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act (MZEA), 
MCL 125.3503, as amended, to accomplish zoning objectives through a land development project review 
process based upon the application of site planning criteria to achieve integration of the proposed land 
development project with the characteristics of the project area and to ensure appropriate, fair, and 
consistent decision making. 

(c) Eligible Development proposals submitted under this Article shall be considered an optional means of 
obtaining required zoning review and approval only upon terms acceptable to the city. Utilization of this 
option shall be at the discretion of the developer and/or landowner, and the city is under no obligation to 
foster or encourage its use. The decision whether to approve, deny or conditionally approve a proposed use 
and/or development submitted for review and approval under this Article shall be at the sole discretion of 

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 5 of 31



 

 

City Council upon recommendation of the planning commission. This option allows, but does not require, 
limited discretionary flexibility in the regulation of land development in a way that mutually benefits the city 
and property owner in accordance with the approved plans and development agreement subject to approval 
by the city, while ensuring that the authorized land use or activity will be compatible with adjacent land uses, 
the natural environment, and capacities of public services, utilities, facilities and infrastructure affected by 
the land use and that the land use and development is consistent with the public health, safety and welfare.    

Sec. 51-16.02. Eligibility criteria. 

To be eligible for planned unit development approval, the applicant must demonstrate to the satisfaction of 
the planning commission subject to review and final determination by city council, that the following criteria will 
be met:  

(1) Recognizable benefits. The planned unit development will result in a recognizable and substantial 
benefit to the ultimate users of the project and to the community producing a higher quality of 
development than could be achieved under conventional zoning. The PUD option shall not be allowed 
solely as a means of increasing the density or intensity of development or avoiding applicable zoning 
requirements of the underlying zoning district.  

(2) Minimum size. The minimum size of a planned unit development shall be three acres of contiguous 
land.  

(3) Use of public services. The proposed type and density of use shall not result in an unreasonable or 
burdensome increase in the use of public services, facilities and utilities or area traffic, and shall not 
place an unreasonable burden upon the subject site, surrounding land, property owners and 
occupants, surrounding or adjacent roadways, utilities, infrastructure or the natural environment.  

(4) Compatibility with master plan. The proposed development shall not have an adverse impact upon the 
master plan of the city and shall be consistent with the intent and spirit of the master plan.  

(5) Economic impact. The proposed development shall not result in an unreasonable negative economic 
impact upon surrounding or nearby properties. An applicant shall prepare and submit an industry 
standard economic impact study that evaluates and quantifies anticipated or expected economic 
impacts on the city and surrounding properties as a result of the proposed development. {insert or 
reference quantifiable standard for determining acceptable/unacceptable economic impact}   

(6) Usable open space. The proposed development shall contain at least as much usable open space as 
would otherwise be required by the existing underlying zoning.  

(7) Unified control. The proposed development shall be under single ownership or control such that there 
is a single person or entity having responsibility for completing the project, or assuring completion of 
the project by appropriate dedication and contractual provisions, in conformity with this chapter.  

(8) Traffic Impact. The proposed development shall not result in an unreasonable negative traffic impact 
upon surrounding or nearby roadways or properties. An applicant shall prepare and submit an industry 
standard traffic impact study that evaluates and quantifies anticipated or expected traffic impacts on 
surrounding and nearby roadways as a result of the proposed development. {insert or reference 
quantifiable standard for determining acceptable/unacceptable traffic impact}    

(9) Requested Modifications or Deviations. Requested deviations or modifications of generally applicable 
zoning standards and regulations shall be of the type and within the parameters provided by this 
Article. City Council or the planning commission, may, in its discretion, approve the eligibility of a 
proposed development conditionally upon the applicant obtaining variances from the ZBA for any 
requested modification(s) that fall outside the scope of modifications authorized by this Article.  

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 6 of 31



 

 

(10) Design Standards. Applicants must demonstrate a preliminary showing of substantial and material 
compliance with all applicable design standards. 

(11) Each proposal that uses the PUD option shall also meet one or more of the following objectives:  

a. To guarantee the provision of a public improvement which could not otherwise be required that 
would further the public health, safety or welfare, protect existing or future uses from the impact 
of a proposed use, or alleviate an existing or potential problem relating to public facilities.  

b. To improve the appearance of the city through quality building design, enhanced aesthetic, 
façade and architectural features and site development, the provision of trees and landscaping 
consistent with or beyond minimum requirements; the preservation of unique and/or historic 
sites or structures; and the provision of open space or other desirable features of a site beyond 
minimum requirements.  

c. To bring about re-use and/or redevelopment of sites where an orderly change of use is 
determined to be desirable, especially where re-use or redevelopment is unreasonably restricted 
because of existing nonconformities or the constraints of conventional zoning standards.  

The applicant shall provide legal documentation of single ownership or control in the form of agreements, 
contracts, covenants, and deed restrictions which indicate that the development can be completed as shown on 
the plans, and further, that all portions of the development that are not to be maintained or operated at public 
expense will continue to be operated and maintained by the developers or their successors. These legal 
documents shall bind all development successors in title to any commitments made as a part of the documents. 
This provision shall not prohibit a transfer of ownership or control, provided notice of such transfer is given to the 
building department.  

Sec. 51-16.03. Project design standards, Modifications and Deviations. 

(A) Project Design Standards. Proposed planned unit developments shall comply with all applicable design 
standards for the proposed use and/or underlying district including architectural, façade, engineering, facility, 
drainage, site layout and features and further including the following project design standards:  

(1) Location. A planned unit development may be approved in any location in the city, subject to review 
and approval as provided for herein.  

(2) Permitted uses. Any Subject to any permissible use modification approved by council or use variance 
approved by the ZBA, only those land uses authorized in this chapter as a principal or special land use 
in the underlying zoning district may be included permitted in a planned unit development as a 
principal or accessory use. City Council, upon recommendation of the planning commission, may, in its 
discretion, approve, or conditionally approve, a use modification or deviation allowing a proposed use 
that is not a listed principal or special land use in the underlying zoning district provided that applicant 
demonstrates all the following:  

a. The predominant use on the site shall be consistent with the uses specified for the parcel on the 
city's master plan and future land use map.  

b. There shall be a reasonably harmonious relationship between the proposed use and the location 
of buildings on the site relative to buildings and uses on lands in the surrounding area.  

c. Nonresidential uses shall be separated and buffered from residential uses in a manner that is 
consistent with good site design and planning principles and properly screened as required by 
section 51-21-13.  

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 7 of 31



 

 

d. The mix of uses and the arrangement of those uses within a planned unit development shall not 
impair the public health, safety, welfare, or quality of life of residents or the community as a 
whole.  

e. Where the existing underlying zoning district is residential, commercial and office uses may be 
permitted as a part of a planned unit development, provided that such nonresidential uses are 
clearly subordinate to the principal residential use on the site.  

f. Utilities, infrastructure, facilities and roadways have sufficient capacity to support the proposed 
use and development without unreasonable burden and without creating unreasonable negative 
economic or traffic impact on adjacent or surrounding roads and properties. An applicant may 
propose improvements or expansions to existing utilities, infrastructure, facilities and roadways 
to accommodate and support the proposed use and development. 

g. The proposed use and development will incorporate higher grade materials and result in higher 
grade improvements, site features, aesthetic and architectural features than otherwise 
obtainable under conventional zoning review and approval processes. 

h. Use and development consistent with the permitted uses and special land uses in the underlying 
zoning district is not economically viable and the proposed use meets an underserved demand in 
the area. 

i. Substantial and material compliance with the requirements of this Article and applicable zoning 
regulations and standards.  

(3) Residential density. The overall average density of residential uses within a planned unit development 
shall be based on the character and adaptability of the site, the future land use map designation, 
compatibility with surrounding land use, and the size of the site. In consideration of these factors, the 
overall average density shall not exceed ten units per acre, except that the overall average density may 
be increased to 15 units per acre on sites that are 12 acres or larger and further, provided that council 
may, upon recommendation of the planning commission, approve a greater overall average density. 
For the purposes of computing density, gross acreage shall include the following:  

a. All areas to be used for residential purposes, including off-street parking in residential areas;  

b. Wetlands, woodlands, and lakes within the portion of the site that is being developed for 
residential purposes;  

c. Parks and open space devoted exclusively for residential use or for natural resource protection. 
Upon recommendation from the planning commission, the city council may consider land 
allocated to a commercial recreation use, such as a golf course, in determining the appropriate 
density of residential development, subject to the conditions cited below.  

d. Internal local road rights-of-way. Dedicated rights-of-way for perimeter roads and internal 
collector and thoroughfare roads shall not be included in the gross acreage for the purposes of 
computing density. An increase in density may be permitted by the city council, upon 
recommendation from the planning commission, upon finding that the increase is justified 
because certain characteristics of the proposed development would result in a substantial benefit 
to the users and the community as a whole. Among the characteristics which the planning 
commission and City Council may consider in making this determination are the following:  

1. The planned unit development exhibits extraordinary design excellence, examples of which 
include, but are not limited to, innovative energy efficient design; provision of additional 
open space above the required amount; added improvements to ensure vehicular and 
pedestrian safety; or added landscaping or other site features to ensure a long-term, 
aesthetically pleasing appearance.  

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 8 of 31



 

 

2. The proposed arrangement of uses and residential densities within the planned unit 
development enhances the compatibility of proposed development with existing or 
planned land use on adjacent land.  

(4) Yard setbacks. Planned unit developments shall comply with the following yard setback requirements:  

a. Along perimeter adjacent to public road: 40 feet.  

b. Along perimeter, but not adjacent to a road: 20 feet.  

c. Along an internal collector or local road: 30 feet.  

d. Along an internal thoroughfare road: 40 feet.  

e. Between parking lot and property line:  

1. Adjacent to road: Ten feet.  

2. Not fronting on road: Ten feet.  

f. Buildings that exceed 30 feet in height shall comply with the setback requirements in section 51-
17.02.  

g. Required setbacks shall be measured from the existing right-of-way line, except where a setback 
measurement line is specified on the adopted zoning map, in which case the required setback 
shall be measured in accordance with said setback measurement standard.  

h. Modification to these yard setback requirements may be approved by the city council, upon 
recommendation from the planning commission, upon making the determination that other 
setbacks would be more appropriate because of the topography, existing trees and other 
vegetation, proposed grading and landscaping, or other existing or proposed site features.  

(5) Distances between buildings. Buildings within a planned unit development shall comply with the 
following spacing requirements:  

a. Detached single-family structures shall be spaced in accordance with the setback requirements in 
the R-1A District, as specified in section 51-17.01.  

b. The city council, upon recommendation from the planning commission, may permit modifications 
to the spacing requirements for detached single-family structures in a planned unit development, 
based on good planning and design principles and after taking into account the degree of 
compatibility between adjoining uses, sensitivity to the characteristics of the site, the need for 
free access for emergency vehicles, the need for adequate amounts of light and air between 
buildings, and the need for proper amounts of open space for the exclusive use of residents on 
the site.  

c. Residential buildings containing more than one unit (i.e., apartments, townhouses, attached 
dwellings) shall conform to the spacing requirements set forth in section 51-17.02(f).  

d. Nonresidential buildings shall be located at least 65 feet from any residential buildings.  

e. The distance between adjacent freestanding nonresidential structures shall be based on good 
planning and design principles, taking into account the need for: free access for emergency 
vehicles, adequate amounts of light and air between buildings, and proper amounts of 
landscaping.  

f. Modification to these building spacing requirements may be approved by the city council, upon 
recommendation from the planning commission, upon making the determination that other 

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 9 of 31



 

 

building spacing requirements would be more appropriate because of the particular design and 
orientation of buildings.  

(6) Building height. Buildings within the PUD must comply with the height requirement of the underlying 
zoning district. City council, with the recommendation of planning commission, may modify the height 
requirements.  

(7) Parking and loading. Planned unit developments shall comply with the parking and loading 
requirements specified in article 19.00 of this chapter.  

(8) Landscaping. Planned unit developments shall comply with the landscaping requirements specified in 
section 21.35.  

(9) Open space requirements. Planned unit developments containing a residential component shall provide 
and maintain usable open space, which shall comply with the following requirements:  

a. Ten percent of the gross area of the site that is designated for residential use shall be set aside 
for such open space.  

b. Any pervious land area may be included as required open space, except as follows:  

1. Up to 25 percent of the required open space may include the area of any water bodies or 
wetlands which are covered only periodically with standing water (such as hardwood 
swamps or wet meadows). Another 25 percent of the required open space may be 
occupied by lakes or ponds, when landscaped and maintained as an integral part of a larger 
common area, or designated wetland that is covered by water or muck such that it is not a 
suitable environment for walking.  

2. The city council, upon recommendation from the planning commission, may permit a 
greater portion of wetland areas to be counted as open space, upon determining that site 
conditions and constraints make it impractical to dedicate sufficient open upland areas to 
meet the open space requirements.  

3. Required usable open space shall not include the area of any public or private road or the 
area of any easement providing access to the site.  

c. The required open space shall be set aside by the developer through an irrevocable conveyance, 
such as deed restrictions or covenants that run with the land, assuring that the open space will 
be developed according to the site plan and never changed to another use. Such conveyance 
shall:  

1. Indicate the proposed use of the required open space.  

2. Indicate how the leisure and recreation needs of all segments of the population residing in 
or using the planned unit development will be accommodated.  

3. Provide for the privately-owned open space to be maintained by private property owners 
with an interest in the open space.  

4. Provide maintenance standards and a maintenance schedule.  

5. Provide for assessment of the private property owners by the city for the cost of 
maintenance of the open space in the event that it is inadequately maintained and 
becomes a public nuisance.  

(10) Frontage and access. Planned unit developments shall front onto an arterial or collector road (as 
designated on the future land use map) and the main means of access to the development shall be via 
the arterial or collector road.  

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 10 of 31



 

 

a. Construction of private drives or secondary access drives as a means of providing indirect access 
to a public road shall be permitted, provided that all internal roads in a planned unit 
development shall conform to the standards and specifications promulgated by the city for public 
roads within the city.  

b. Individual residential dwelling units in a planned unit development shall not have direct access 
onto an arterial or collector road. The planned unit development should be designed so that 
through-traffic, including traffic generated by commercial uses within the planned unit 
development, is discouraged from travelling on residential streets.  

c. Developments which contain more than 30 dwelling units shall have at least two separate points 
of access. One such access point may be designed for emergency vehicle access only.  

(11) Natural features. The development shall be designed to promote preservation of natural resources and 
natural features. If natural animal or plant habitats of significant value exist on the site, the planning 
commission or city council may require that the planned unit development plan preserve the areas in a 
natural state and adequately protect them as open space preserves or passive recreation areas. One 
hundred percent of any preserved natural area may be counted toward meeting the requirements for 
open space, except that designated wetlands which cannot be developed or utilized due to local, state, 
or federal regulations shall not be counted as open space except as permitted in subsection (9) of this 
section.  

(12) Sidewalks. Sidewalks shall be provided along all roads within the planned unit development in 
accordance with section 51-21.36.  

(13) Additional considerations. The planning commission shall take into account the following 
considerations, which may be relevant to a particular project: perimeter setbacks and berming; 
thoroughfare, drainage and utility design; underground installation of utilities; insulating the 
pedestrian circulation system from vehicular thoroughfares and ways; achievement of an integrated 
development with respect to signage, lighting, landscaping and building materials; and, noise reduction 
and visual screening mechanisms, particularly in cases where nonresidential uses adjoin off-site 
residentially-zoned property.  

(B) Modifications and Deviations. City Council, upon recommendation of the planning commission, may approve, 
or conditionally approve, requested modifications or deviations from only those zoning standards or regulations 
expressly subject to modification or deviation under the PUD option as provided by the express provisions of this 
Article, subject to the following:  

(1) Except as expressly provided by this Article, any modification or deviation from a quantifiable, 
measurable or dimensional standard or regulation shall not be increased or decreased by more than 
ten percent (10%) of the quantifiable, measurable or dimensional standard. 

(2) An applicant may seek a variance from the ZBA for any requested modification(s) that fall outside the 
scope of permissible modifications authorized under the PUD option as provided by this Article. City 
Council or the planning commission, may, in its discretion, approve a proposed PUD development 
conditionally upon the applicant obtaining variances from the ZBA for any requested modification(s) 
that fall outside the scope of permissible deviations or modifications authorized by this Article. 

(3) The applicant shall offer corresponding in-kind improvements that enhance the quality of development 
aesthetics, façade or architectural features, site features or improvements to city utilities, 
infrastructure, facilities or roads that exceed the quality or extent of improvements obtainable under 
conventional zoning review and approval process.  

(4) Upon making the required showing, the decision to approve, deny, or conditionally approve a 
permissible modification or deviation shall be at council’s sole discretion upon recommendation of the 
planning commission.  

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 11 of 31



 

 

  

Sec. 51-16.04. - PUD Review Procedures.  
The approval of a planned unit development application shall require an amendment to the zoning 
ordinance to revise the zoning map and designate the subject property as PUD Planned Unit 
Development by the use of an asterisk or other labeling method that notes the underlying zoning and the 
new PUD designation.. Approval granted under this article, including all aspects of the final plan and 
conditions imposed on it, shall constitute an inseparable part of the zoning amendment. 

(1) General application requirements. The application for planned unit development shall be made on 
the forms and according to the guidelines approved by the planning commission. The application 
shall be submitted to the department of building and community development and shall be 
accompanied by the necessary fees and documents as specified in this section and section 51-
16.03. The applicant or a designated representative shall be present at all scheduled review 
meetings or consideration of the plan may be tabled due to lack of representation.  
 

(2) Planning Commission PUD Preliminary plan review. Planned unit development projects shall 
obtain site plan approval by the Planning Commission as outlined in Section 51-21.28(a) through 
(d) and as outlined in this subsection.  
 
a. Information required for preliminary review. The information required for preliminary site plan 

review shall be provided according to the requirements of Section 51-16.05, Section 51-
21.28(g) and the following additional required items. 
1. Traffic Impact Study. The applicant shall submit a traffic impact study that includes, but is 

not limited to, the amount of traffic proposed uses in the PUD will generate, the overall 
impact on adjacent roads as well as other information as required by industry standard. 

2.  Economic Impact Study. The applicant shall submit an economic impact study that 
includes, but is not limited to, the number of jobs generated by the proposed uses as well 
as other information as required by industry standard. 

 

b. Professional review. The plan shall be transmitted to the city planner, city engineer, and city 
department heads for review, who shall prepare and transmit reports to the planning 
commission stating their findings and conclusions.  
 

c. Public hearing. The planning commission shall hold at least one public hearing on any 
planned unit development proposal before it is approved.  

 

1. Notice requirements. Notice of the public hearing shall be published in a newspaper 
which circulates in the city, and sent by mail or personal delivery to the owners of 
property for which approval is being considered, to all persons to whom real property is 
assessed within 300 feet of the boundary of the property in question, and to the 
occupants of all structures within 300 feet regardless of whether the property or occupant 
is located in the zoning district. Such notice shall be given not less than 15 days before 
the date the application will be considered for approval. If the name of the occupant is not 
known, the term "occupant" may be used in making notification. Such notification shall be 
made in accordance with the provisions of section 103 of Michigan Public Act 110 of 
2006, as amended. Accordingly, the notice shall:  

i. Describe the nature of the planned unit development project requested.  

ii. Indicate the property which is the subject of the request. The notice shall include a 
listing of all existing street addresses within the property. Street addresses do not 

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 12 of 31



 

 

need to be created and listed if no such addresses currently exist within the property. 
If there are no street addresses, other means of identification may be used.  

iii. State when and where the planned unit development project will be considered and 
the public hearing will be held.  

iv. Indicate when and where written comments will be received concerning the request.  

d. PUD preliminary plan review standards. The Planning Commission shall review the PUD 
preliminary site plan, together with any reports and recommendations from staff, consultants 
and other reviewing agencies and any public comments. The Planning Commission shall 
determine the plan’s compliance with the following sections: 

1. The eligibility criteria of Section 51-16.02 

2. The project design standards of Section 51-16.03 

3. The site plan approval standards of Section 51-28(f) 

4. All other applicable zoning ordinance standards.  

e. Planning Commission PUD preliminary plan action. The Planning Commission is authorized 
to postpone, approve, approve subject to conditions, or deny the PUD Preliminary site plan 
as follows: 

1. Postponement. Upon determination by the Planning Commission that a PUD Preliminary 
site plan is not sufficiently complete for approval or denial or upon a request by the 
applicant, the Planning Commission may postpone consideration until a later meeting. 

2. Approval. Upon determination that a PUD Preliminary site plan is in compliance with the 
requirements of this ordinance and other applicable ordinances and laws, the PUD 
Preliminary site plan shall be approved. The planning commission shall prepare and 
transmit a report to the city council stating its conclusions and recommendation. 

3. Approval subject to conditions. The Planning Commission may approve a PUD 
Preliminary site plan, subject to one or more conditions necessary to address minor 
modifications to the site plan, upon a determination that the PUD Preliminary site plan will 
be in compliance with the requirements of this ordinance once the specified conditions 
have been complied with. The applicant shall be required to submit a revised plan that 
complies with all conditions of approval. Once all conditions of approval are met, the PUD 
Preliminary plan may continue in the review process. The planning commission shall 
prepare and transmit a report to the city council stating its conclusions and 
recommendation and any recommended conditions relating to an affirmative decision 

4. Denial. Upon determination that a PUD Preliminary site plan does not comply with the 
standards and regulations set forth in this ordinance or would require extensive revisions 
to comply with said standards and regulations, the plan shall be denied. If a plan is 
denied, a written record shall be provided to the applicant listing the reasons for such 
denial. The applicant may subsequently refile a corrected PUD Preliminary site plan 
under the same procedures followed for the initial submission. 

(43) City council action required. Following receipt of the planning commission's report, the application shall 
be placed on the agenda of the next available scheduled city council meeting.  

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 13 of 31



 

 

(a)  The city council shall review the final plan together with the findings of the planning commission, 
and, if requested, any reports and recommendations from consultants and other reviewing 
agencies. Following completion of its review, the city council shall approve, approve with 
conditions, or deny a planned unit development proposal in accordance with the guidelines 
described previously in subsection (3)b of this section in Section 51-16.06 and other applicable 
zoning ordinance standards.  

(b) Council shall not approve a PUD proposal absent a recommendation for approval by the planning 
commission, provided council may impose approval conditions not required or recommended by 
the planning commission or adopt or reject any conditions to approval recommended by the 
planning commission. Council may deny a PUD proposal with or without a recommendation for 
denial by the planning commission. If the planning commission recommends denial, council may 
refer the proposal back to the planning commission with instruction for further study, public 
hearing or recommendation upon considering additional information, revised or alternative 
plans, or any other matter deemed appropriate by council for further consideration.   

(4) Planning Commission PUD Final Site Plan review. Upon receiving City Council PUD plan approval, the 
applicant shall obtain final site plan approval from the planning commission.  

(a) The applicant shall submit the PUD plans for review and receive the approval of any State or 
County agencies as directed by the City Engineer and/or City Planner.  

(b) The applicant shall submit revised plans that have addressed all issues outlined by the City 
Engineer, City Planner and any other professional review obtained by the City.  

(c) The Planning Commission shall review the PUD final site plan for compliance with the site plan 
standards of Section 51-21.28(f) the PUD approval criteria of Section 51-16.06 and all other applicable 
zoning ordinance standards subject to any modifications or deviations approved by council. Following 
completion of their review the Planning Commission shall approve, approve with conditions or deny 
the PUD final site plan. 

(5)      Effect of approval. Approval of a planned unit development proposal shall constitute an amendment to 
the zoning ordinance. All improvements and use of the site shall be in conformity with the planned unit 
development amendment and any conditions imposed. Notice of the adoption of the amendment shall be 
published in accordance with the requirements set forth in this chapter. The applicant shall record an 
affidavit with the register of deeds containing the legal description of the entire project, specifying the 
date of approval, and declaring that all future improvements will be carried out in accordance with the 
approved planned unit development unless an amendment thereto is adopted by the city upon request of 
the applicant or his successors.  

(a)  PUD Agreement. If the city council determines that approval would be appropriate, it shall 
instruct the city attorney to prepare a contract, following final PUD site plan review and approval 
by the planning commission, setting forth the terms and conditions upon which such approval is 
based, including any approved modifications or deviations from zoning regulations and 
standards, and shall incorporate and require compliance with the approved final PUD plans. After 
approval by resolution of the city council, the contract shall be executed by the city and the 
applicant and recorded in the county records. Approval shall be granted only upon the city 
council determining that all qualification requirements, conditions of approval, and provisions of 
this and other city ordinances have been met, and that the proposed development will not 
adversely affect the public health, welfare and safety. Approval shall further be subjected to the 
condition that the contract will be properly recorded. Approval of a PUD site plan shall be 
effective upon recording the contract and filing proof of recording with the city clerk.  

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 14 of 31



 

 

(b)  Once an area has been included within the boundaries of an approved PUD, no development may 
take place in the PUD except in accordance with the city council-approved PUD site plan.  

(c) Prior to any development within the area involved, an approved PUD site plan may be 
terminated by the applicant or the applicant's successors or assigns, by filing with the city and 
recording in the county records an affidavit so stating. The approval of the plan shall terminate 
upon such recording.  

(d) No approved plan shall be terminated after development commences except with the approval 
of the city council and of all parties having an equity interest in the land.  

(5 6) Recording of planning commission and city council action. Each action taken with reference to a 
planned unit development shall be duly recorded in the minutes of the planning commission or city 
council as appropriate. The grounds for the action taken shall also be recorded in the minutes.  

(6 7) Completion of site design. Following final approval of the planned unit development proposal, a 
building permit may be obtained for the entire project or specific phases, provided that final site plan 
approval for the project or the phase, as applicable, has been obtained in accordance with section 51-
21.28; and provided, further, that the engineering plans for the project or the phase, as applicable, 
have been approved by the city engineer and building official. It shall be the responsibility of the 
applicant to obtain all other applicable city, county, or state permits prior to issuance of a building 
permit.  

a. Construction shall commence on at least one phase of the project within 24 months of final 
approval. The planning commission may consider a 12-month extension, upon written request 
from the applicant, if it finds that the approved site plan adequately represents current 
conditions on and surrounding the site. The written request for extension must be received prior 
to the 24-month expiration date. In the event that construction has not commenced and a 
request for extension has not been received within 24 months, the city may initiate proceedings 
to amend the zoning classification of the site to return it to the same classification in effect 
before the planned unit development was approved.  

b. It shall be the responsibility of the owner of a property for which approval has been granted to 
maintain the property in accordance with the approved planned unit development amendment 
on a continuing basis until the property is razed, or until an amendment to the planned unit 
development is approved. Any property owner who fails to so maintain an approved site design 
shall be deemed in violation of this chapter and shall be subject to the penalties appropriate for 
such violation.  

c. Prior to expansion or conversion of a planned unit development project to include additional 
land, site plan review and approval shall be required pursuant to the requirements of this article 
and the zoning ordinance.  

(78) Performance guarantee. A performance guarantee shall be deposited with the city to ensure faithful 
completion of improvements, in accordance with section 51-21.30.  

Sec. 51-16.05. Application data requirements. 

(a) Required data. Applications for planned unit development shall include all data requirements specified in this 
section. All information required to be furnished under this subsection shall be kept updated until a 
certificate of occupancy has been issued pursuant to section 51-22.06.  

(1) Requirements for preliminary review. The following information shall be included on, or attached to, all 
planned unit development plans submitted for preliminary review which shall include a conceptual 
plan showing the general layout and dimensions of the proposed site improvements in sufficient detail 

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 15 of 31



 

 

to allow the verification of any proposed modifications, deviations or variances from applicable zoning 
standards and regulations. All Proposed modifications, deviations or variances from applicable zoning 
regulations and standards must be clearly list on the cover page in descriptive detail including the 
quantifiable or measurable parameter of the requested modification, deviation or variance. Upon 
review of a specific planned unit development proposal, the planning commission may waive or modify 
specify requirements if they are deemed unnecessary to make the determinations required by this 
article. For example, if final site plan approval is not being sought as a part of the planned unit 
development approval for specific phases of a project, the planning commission may accept schematics 
and minimum or maximum development standards in lieu of specific plans and a detailed layout. The 
name, address and telephone number of:  

a. All persons with an ownership interest in the land on which the planned unit development 
project will be located together with a description of the nature of each entity's interest (for 
example, fee owner, optionee, leasee, or land contract vendee).  

b. All engineers, attorneys, architects or registered land surveyors associated with the project.  

c. The developer or proprietor of the planned unit development project.  

(2) The legal description of the land on which the planned unit development project will be developed 
together with appropriate tax identification numbers.  

(3) The acreage area of the land on which the planned unit development project will be developed.  

(4) An overall conceptual land use plan for the planned unit development, drawn to scale. The overall plan 
shall graphically represent the development concept using maps and illustrations to indicate each type 
of use, approximate square footage or acreage allocated to each use, and approximate locations of 
each principal structure and use in the development. The overall plan shall indicate types of residential 
use; office, commercial, industrial, and other nonresidential uses; each type of open space; community 
facility and public areas; and other proposed land uses. The overall land use plan shall also include the 
following:  

a. A general location map.  

b. Approximate locations and setbacks of each structure and use in the development.  

c. Typical layouts and facade design for each type of use or building. Detailed information, including 
floor plans, facade elevations, and other information normally required for site plan review, shall 
be provided for buildings which are proposed for construction in the first phase.  

d. The building footprint of proposed buildings. In the case of single-family detached development, 
the plan should indicate the setbacks and outline of the area within which a house could be 
constructed on each lot.  

e. The vehicular circulation system planned for the proposed development, including a designation 
of each street as to whether it is proposed to be private or dedicated to the public.  

f. The location of existing private and public streets adjacent to the proposed development with an 
indication of how they will connect with the proposed circulation system for the new 
development.  

g. The approximate layout of parking areas, open space, and recreation/park areas.  

h. Proposed landscape screening along the perimeter and within the site, including greenbelts, 
berms and screening walls.  

(5) The maximum number of nonresidential and residential units to be developed on the subject parcel.  

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 16 of 31



 

 

(6) An environmental analysis of the land, including a topographic survey, hydrology study, analysis of soil 
conditions, and analysis of other significant environmental features.  

(7) Specific locations and dimensions of wetland areas and significant site features such as tree stands, 
unusual slopes, streams and water drainage areas.  

(8) A map showing existing zoning designations for the subject property and all land within one quarter 
mile.  

(9) A map and written explanation of the relationship of the proposed planned unit development to the 
city's master plan and future land use map.  

(10) Maps and written analysis of the significant natural, cultural, and geographic features of and near the 
site. Features which shall be considered include existing vegetation, topography, water courses, 
wildlife habitats, streets and rights-of-way, easements, structures, and soils.  

(11) An industry standard analysis of the traffic impact of the proposed planned unit development on 
existing and proposed streets.  

(12) An analysis of the fiscal and economic impact of the proposed planned unit development on the city 
and the Walled Lake School District. The proposed development shall not result in an unreasonable 
negative economic impact upon surrounding or nearby properties. An applicant shall prepare and 
submit an industry standard economic impact study that evaluates and quantifies anticipated or 
expected economic and fiscal impacts on the city and surrounding properties as a result of the 
proposed development.    

(13) Documentation that the applicant has sufficient development experience to complete the proposed 
project in its entirety.  

(14) Information concerning the stormwater and drainage system, sanitary sewer service, water service, 
and other utility systems.  

(15) Location of sidewalks along roads and elsewhere within the development.  

(16) A specific schedule for completing the planned unit development, including the phasing or timing of all 
proposed improvements.  

(17) If final site plan approval is being sought, then the information required in section 51-21.28 for site 
plan review shall be submitted.  

(b) Requirements for final review. The following information shall be included on, or attached to, all planned unit 
development plans submitted for final review:  

(1) All information required for preliminary review as specified in section 51-16.04(2).  

(2) Detailed site plans for all buildings and uses which are proposed for construction in the first phase. 
Detailed site plans shall comply with the site plan review requirements in section 51-21.28. Where a 
project is proposed for construction in phases, the planning commission may recommend that final 
approval be granted contingent on subsequent review and approval of detailed site plans for individual 
buildings proposed for the later phases.  

(3) Detailed engineering plans for the entire development or the first phase, as applicable. The plans shall 
be prepared in accordance with the engineering standards adopted by the city council, including the 
following:  

a. Engineering plans for all roads, drive aisles, and paved areas;  

b. Site drainage plans, including retention and/or retention areas;  

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 17 of 31



 

 

c. Engineering plans for proposed utility systems, including sanitary sewerage and water systems;  

d. Plans for controlling soil erosion and sedimentation during construction.  

(4) If the planned unit development is to be constructed in phases, the developer shall obtain final review 
and approval for each phase prior to the commencement of construction for that phase.  

Sec. 51-16.06. Standards and requirements with respect to review and approval. 

Approval shall be granted only upon the city council determining that all qualification requirements, 
conditions of approval, and provisions of this and other city ordinances have been met, and that the proposed 
development will not adversely affect the public health, welfare and safety. In considering any application for 
approval of a planned unit development plan, the planning commission and city council shall make their 
determinations on the basis of the standards for site plan approval set forth in section 51-21.28, as well as the 
following standards and requirements:  

(1) Satisfaction of Eligibility Criteria.  The final PUD development plan shall satisfy all eligibility criteria 
under this Article for the PUD option. 

(2) Satisfaction of Design Standards and zoning regulations.  The final PUD development plan shall comply 
with all applicable design standards and zoning regulations required under this Chapter subject to any 
permissible modifications or deviations approved by council upon recommendation by the planning 
commission. 

(3) State and County Approvals. All required state and county approvals for the project have been issued. 

(4) Economic Impact. The proposed development shall not result in an unreasonable negative economic 
impact upon surroundings or nearby properties. An applicant shall prepare and submit an economic 
impact study that evaluates and quantifies anticipated or expected economic impacts on the city and 
surrounding properties as a result of the proposed development. {insert or reference quantifiable 
standard for determining acceptable/unacceptable economic impact}    

(15) Conformance with the planned unit development concept. The overall design and all uses proposed in 
connection with a planned unit development shall be consistent with and promote the intent of the 
planned unit development concept, as well as with specific project design standards set forth herein.  

(26) Compatibility with adjacent uses. The proposed planned unit development shall set forth specifications 
with respect to height, setbacks, density, parking, circulation, landscaping, views, and other design and 
layout features which exhibit due regard for the relationship of the development to surrounding 
properties and the uses thereon. In determining whether this requirement has been met, 
consideration shall be given to:  

a. The bulk, placement, and materials of construction of proposed structures.  

b. The location and screening of vehicular circulation and parking areas in relation to surrounding 
development.  

c. The location and screening of outdoor storage, outdoor activity or work areas, and mechanical 
equipment in relation to surrounding development.  

d. The hours of operation of the proposed uses.  

e. The provision of landscaping and other site amenities.  

f. Compliance with all applicable design standards and zoning regulations subject to any 
permissible modifications or deviations approved by council upon recommendation of the 
planning commission.  

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 18 of 31



 

 

 

(37) Public services. The proposed planned unit development shall not exceed the capacity of existing and 
available public services, including, but not necessarily limited to, utilities, public roads, police and fire 
protection services, and educational services, unless the proposal contains an acceptable plan for 
providing necessary services or evidence that such services will be available by the time the planned 
unit development is completed.  

(48) Impact of traffic. The planned unit development shall be designed to minimize the impact of traffic 
generated by the proposed development on surrounding uses. In determining whether this 
requirement has been met, consideration shall be given to:  

a. Access to major thoroughfares.  

b. Estimated traffic to be generated by the proposed development.  

c. Proximity and relation to intersections.  

d. Adequacy of driver site distances.  

e. Location of and access to off-street parking.  

f. Required vehicular turning movements.  

g. Provisions for pedestrian traffic.  

h. {Insert or reference quantifiable standard for determining acceptable/unacceptable traffic 
impact} 

(59) Protection of natural environment. The proposed planned unit development shall be protective of the 
natural environment, and shall be in compliance with all applicable environmental protection laws and 
regulations.  

(610) Compatibility with the master plan. The proposed planned unit development shall be consistent with 
the general principles and objectives of the adopted master plan and future land use map.  

(711) Compliance with applicable regulations. The proposed planned unit development shall be in 
compliance with the requirements, standards and criteria set forth in this Article and all applicable 
federal, state, and local laws and regulations.  

Sec. 51-16.07. Phasing and commencement of construction. 

Where a project is proposed for construction in phases, the project shall be so designed that each phase, 
when completed, contains all essential features, services, and facilities, necessary to ensure the long-term viability 
of each such phase, even if later phases are not completed. In addition, proposed phasing shall comply with the 
following requirements:  

(1) In developments which include residential and nonresidential components, the residential component 
shall be completed at the same rate or prior to the nonresidential component. For example, if 50 
percent of the nonresidential component is proposed to be completed in a certain phase, then at least 
50 percent of the residential component should be completed in the same phase. One hundred 
percent of the residential component shall be completed prior to the final phase of nonresidential 
construction. The construction of roads, utilities, and other infrastructure shall be considered 
completion of a residential component.  

The purpose of this provision is to ensure that planned unit developments are constructed in an 
orderly manner and, further, to ensure that the planned unit development approach is not used as a 
means of circumventing restrictions on the location or quantity of certain types of land use. For the 
purposes of carrying out this provision, the percentages shall be approximations as determined by the 

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 19 of 31



 

 

 

planning commission based on the floor area and land area allocated to each use. Such percentages 
may be varied should the city council, upon recommendation from the planning commission determine 
that the applicant has presented adequate and effective assurance that the residential component or 
components of the project shall be completed within the specified period.  

(2) Construction shall be commenced for each phase of the project within 24 months of the schedule set 
forth on the approved plan for the planned unit development. The applicant may submit a revised 
phasing plan for review and approval by the planning commission. The applicant shall also submit a 
statement indicating the conditions which made the previous phasing plan unachievable. In the event 
that construction has not commenced within the required time period and a revised phasing plan has 
not been submitted, the city may initiate proceedings to amend the zoning classification of the site to 
return it to the same classification in effect before the planned unit development was approved.  

Sec. 51-16.08. Revision of approved plans. 

(a) General revisions. Approved final plans for a planned unit development may be revised in accordance with 
the procedures set forth in section 51-16.03.  

(b) Minor changes. Notwithstanding section 16.07(1), minor changes may be permitted by the planning 
commission following normal site plan review procedures outlined in section 51-21.28, subject to its finding 
that:  

(1) Such changes will not adversely affect the initial basis for granting approval.  

(2) Such minor changes will not adversely affect the overall planned unit development in light of the intent 
and purpose of such development as set forth in section 15-16.01.  

Section 3.  Severability 

 

 If any section, clause or provision of this ordinance shall be declared to be unconstitutional, 

void, illegal or ineffective by any court of competent jurisdiction, such section, clause or provision 

declared to be unconstitutional, void or illegal shall thereby cease to be a part of this ordinance; 

but the remainder of this ordinance shall stand and be in full force and effect. 

 

Section 4.  Savings 

 

 All proceedings pending and all rights and liabilities existing, acquired or incurred at the 

time this ordinance takes effect are saved and may be consummated according to the law in force 

when they are commenced. 

Section 5.  Repealer. 

 

 All other ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed only to 

the extent necessary to give this ordinance full force and effect. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 20 of 31



 

 

 

Section 6.  Effective Date. 

 

 The provisions of this ordinance are hereby ordered to take effect following publication as 

provided by the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, as amended, MCL 125.3101, et seq and in the 

manner prescribed by the Zoning Ordinance and Charter of the City of Walled Lake.  This 

ordinance is hereby declared to have been adopted by the Walled Lake City Council on 

______________, 2026 and ordered to be given publication in the manner prescribed by the City 

Charter of the City of Walled Lake. 

 

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENTS: 

ABSTENTIONS: 

 

STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 

    )ss. 

COUNTY OF OAKLAND ) 

 

 

 

 

________________________________  ________________________________ 

RICHARD GUNTHER, Mayor   JENNIFER STUART, City Clerk 

CITY OF WALLED LAKE    CITY OF WALLED LAKE 

 

Introduced: March 3, 2026 

Adopted: _____________ 

Effective: _____________ 

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 21 of 31



CPD Zoning Ordinance Amendments  DRAFT February 24, 2026 
City of Walled Lake, MI  Page 1 
 

STATE OF MICHIGAN 
COUNTY OF OAKLAND 

CITY OF WALLED LAKE 
 

ORDINANCE NO. C-378-26 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 51, “ZONING”, OF TITLE V, 
“ZONING AND PLANNING”, THE CITY OF WALLED LAKE ZONING 
ORDINANCE, TO AMEND ARTICLE 30.00 “COMMERCIAL PLANNED 
DEVELOPMENT OPTION” AS PROVIDED BY THIS ORDINANCE 

 
THE CITY OF WALLED LAKE ORDAINS:   

Section 1.  Purpose 
 
 The purpose of this Zoning Ordinance Amendment is to implement section 503 of the 
Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, MCL 125.3503, by amending Article 30.00 “Commercial Planned 
Development Option” of the City of Walled Lake zoning ordinance as provided by this ordinance.  
 

Section 2.  Amendment to Article 30.00 
 
 The City of Walled Lake Zoning Ordinance, Article 30.00 “Commercial Planned 
Development Option” is hereby amended in its entirety to read as follows: 

ARTICLE 30.00. COMMERCIAL PLANNED DEVELOPMENT (CPD) OPTION 

Sec. 51-30.01. Intent. 

(a) The intent of the Commercial Planned Development (CPD) Option is to permit, with city approval, private or 
public development which is substantially in accordance with the goals and objectives of the downtown 
urban design plan which was adopted by the planning commission in August 1991 and may be amended 
from time-to-time, and the master plan for the city, which was adopted by the planning commission on April 
10, 1990, and which may be amended from time-to-time.  

(b) The development permitted under this article 30.00 of this chapter shall be considered as an optional means 
of development. The availability of the option imposes no obligation on the city to encourage or foster its 
use. The decision to approve its use shall be at the sole discretion of the city. Consequently, in this article, 
the development opportunities made available under this article may be referred to as the CPD option.  

(c) The CPD option is intended to permit regulatory flexibility to achieve development that is in accordance with 
the city's downtown urban design plan and master plan; to achieve economy and efficiency in the use of 
land, natural resources, energy and in the provision of public services and utilities; to encourage the creation 
of useful open space particularly suited to the proposed development and parcel on which it is located; and 
to provide appropriate employment, services and shopping opportunities to satisfy the needs of residents of 
the city.  

(d) It is further intended that the development in the CPD option be laid out so that proposed uses, buildings, 
and site improvements relate to each other and to adjoining existing and planned uses in such a way that 
they will be compatible, with no material adverse impact of one use on another.  

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 22 of 31



  

CPD Zoning Ordinance Amendments  DRAFT February 24, 2026 
City of Walled Lake, MI  Page 2 
 

 

(e) The CPD option is further intended to permit reasonable development or use of parcels of land that were 
subdivided and/or developed prior to adoption of the current ordinance, or amendment thereto, and which 
would otherwise be restricted from development or use because of existing or resulting nonconformities.  

(Code 1994, § 30.01) 

Sec. 51-30.02. - Definitions.  
For the purposes of this article, the following definitions shall apply:  

(1)  Commercial planned development. The term "commercial planned development" means a specific 
parcel of land or several contiguous parcels of land, which has been, is being, or will be developed in 
accordance with a site plan approved by city council, following a recommendation from the planning 
commission, where the site plan meets the requirements of this article, proposing permitted land 
uses, density patterns, a fixed system of streets (where necessary), provisions for public utilities, 
drainage and other essential services and similar features necessary or incidental to development.  

(2)  Underlying zoning. The term "underlying zoning" means the zoning classification applicable to any 
portion of land that is proposed to be developed in accordance with the commercial planned 
development regulations.  

 
Sec. 51-30.0302. -– CPD EligibilityQualification criteria.  
In order to qualifybe eligible for the Commercial Planned Development Option, itthe applicant must be 
demonstrated that all of the following criteria will be met:  

(1) Location. The CPD option may be used only if a portion of the site is included in the Downtown 
Overlay District or if the site is located on an arterial road as designated in the city's master plan.  

(2)  The use of the CPD option shall not be for the purpose of avoiding applicable zoning requirements 
of the underlying zoning district.  

(3)  The CPD option shall not be used in situations where the same land use objectives can be 
accomplished by the application of conventional zoning provisions or standards without the need for 
variances.  

(4)  The CPD option may be used only when the proposed land use will not add public service and 
facility loads beyond those contemplated in the master plan or other applicable plans or policies of the 
city unless the applicant can demonstrate to the sole satisfaction of the city council that such added 
loads will be accommodated or mitigated by the proponent as part of the CPD or by some other 
means deemed acceptable to the city council.  

(5)  Use of the CPD option shall establish land use patterns which are compatible with and protect 
existing or planned uses.  

(6)  Use of the CPD option shall promote the goals and objectives of the downtown urban design plan 
and master plan.  

(7)  The CPD option shall not be allowed solely as a means of increasing the density or intensity of 
development.  

(8)  The CPD option shall result in a higher quality of development than could be achieved under 
conventional zoning.  

(9)  Each proposal that uses the CPD option shall also meet one or more of the following objectives:  

a.  To guarantee the provision of a public utility improvement which could not otherwise be 
required that would further the public health, safety or welfare, protect existing or future uses 
from the impact of a proposed use, or alleviate an existing or potential problem relating to 
public facilitiesutilities or infrastructure.  

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 23 of 31



  

CPD Zoning Ordinance Amendments  DRAFT February 24, 2026 
City of Walled Lake, MI  Page 3 

b.  To improve the appearance of the city through quality building design and site development, 
the provision of trees and landscaping consistent with or beyond minimum requirements; the 
preservation of unique and/or historic sites or structures; and the provision of open space or 
other desirable features of a site beyond minimum requirements.  

c.  To bring about re-use and/or redevelopment of vacant or underutilized sites where an orderly 
change of use is determined to be desirable, especially where re-use or redevelopment is 
unreasonably restricted because of existing nonconformities or the constraints of conventional 
zoning standards.  

(Code 1994, § 30.03) 

Sec. 51-30.0403. -– CPD Permitted uses.  
(a)(1)  Only uses that are listed as principal permitted uses or permitted uses after special approval in any of 

the underlying zoning districts shall be permitted in a CPD development. However, expansion of or 
renovation to a building containing a use that is not listed as a principal permitted use or a permitted use 
after special approval may be permitted by the city council upon making the determination that:  

(1)  The use has operated and will continue to operate in a manner that is compatible with surrounding and 
nearby land uses;  

(2)  The proposed expansion or renovation will not impair the efforts of the city, property and business owners 
and residents to further the goals and objectives of the downtown urban design plan and master plan; and  

(3)  The proposed expansion or renovation will have a recognized and substantial beneficial impact as a result 
of improved building design, site improvements that are consistent with urban design guidelines set forth in 
the downtown urban design plan, improved traffic and transportation patterns or other benefits.  

(b)(2)  The determination whether a specific use should be permitted shall be subject to review and approval 
of a site plan, pursuant to the review procedures in section 51-30.06Multiple family residential dwellings 
may be included in a commercial planned development provided commercial land uses occupy a minimum 
of 80% of the ground floor area for all buildings. The multiple family residential component of a commercial 
planned development shall comply with the development requirements of the RM-2 zoning district unless 
modified in compliance with Sec. 51-30.04.  

(Code 1994, § 30.04) 

Sec. 51-30.0504. -– CPD Height, bulk, density and area standards and modifications.  
(a)(1)  A CPD proposal shall comply with the height, bulk, density, and setback standards of the underlying 

zoning district except as specifically modified and noted on the CPD site plan. Uses listed as special 
approval uses shall be subject to applicable height, bulk, density, area and use standards in section 51-
21.29, unless such standards are modified and noted on the CPD site plan.  

(b)(2)  The city council may approve a modification or waiver of one or more standards of the underlying 
district or standards for special approval uses, after reviewing the recommendation of the planning 
commission, upon making the determination that any such modification or waiver would be consistent with 
the land use goals and objectives of the city and the intent of this article, and upon making the 
determination that the modification or waiver would be appropriate because of the particular design and 
orientation of buildings and uses. Action by the city council on a CPD site plan, including modification or 
waiver that is approved as part of approval of a CPD site plan, shall not require further consideration or 
action by the zoning board of appeals; furthermore, action by the city council on a CPD site plan may not be 
appealed to the zoning board of appeals.  

(Code 1994, § 30.05) 

Sec. 51-30.0605. -– CPD Review procedures.  
(a)  Request for qualification.  

(1)  Any person who owns land in the Downtown Overlay District, or the owner's designated agent, may 
make application for consideration of a Commercial Planned Development proposal. Such application 
shall be made by submitting a request for a determination whether the proposal qualifies for the CPD 
option.  

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 24 of 31



  

CPD Zoning Ordinance Amendments  DRAFT February 24, 2026 
City of Walled Lake, MI  Page 4 

(2)  A request shall be submitted to the city council and shall include the following:  

a.  A written statement explaining in detail the proposed use, building and site improvements, 
phasing plan, and resulting floor area and parking.  

b.  Substantiation that all conditions for qualification set forth in section 51-30.03 are or will be 
met.  

c.  A schematic land use plan containing enough detail to explain the proposed uses, relationship 
to adjoining parcels, vehicular and pedestrian circulation patterns, open spaces and landscape 
areas, and building density or intensity.  

(3)  Upon receipt of the request for qualifications, the city council may undertake such investigation, 
study and/or deliberation into the merits of the proposal as it deems appropriate. In conducting such 
investigation, the city council may seek information, analysis and advice from the planning 
commission, city staff, city planner, city attorney, or others as necessary.  

(4)  Upon completing its investigation, the city council shall approve, approve with conditions, or deny 
the request for qualification. A determination that a proposal qualifies for review under the CPD 
district standards shall be accompanied by a description of the minimum conditions under which the 
proposal will be considered for final approval. In describing such conditions, the city council may 
identify specific requirements or standards in this chapter which could be waived or modified upon 
approval of the final CPD site plan. A preliminary determination does not ensure final approval of a 
Commercial Planned Development proposal, but is intended to provide an initial indication as to 
whether or not an applicant should proceed to prepare a CPD site plan upon which a final 
determination would be based. If the city council denies the request for qualification, the applicant 
may pursue development or use of the site under conventional zoning standards.  

(b)  Request for final approval. An applicant who has been granted qualification by city council may apply for 
final approval under this section with submittal of the following materials:  

(1)  CPD site plan. An application shall be made to the department of planning and development for 
review and recommendation by the planning commission. The CPD site plan shall contain all of the 
information required for site plans in section 51-21.28(f) and any additional information requested by 
the city council upon granting approval of the request for qualification.  

(2)  Planning commission review.  

a.  If the director of planning and development determines that the CPD site plan is substantially 
in compliance with the site plan submittal requirements and the minimum conditions for 
consideration imposed by the city council, the director shall place the site plan on the planning 
commission agenda and schedule a public hearing.  

b.  Notice of the public hearing shall be published in a newspaper which circulates in the city, and 
sent by mail or personal delivery to the owners of property for which approval is being 
considered, to all persons to whom real property is assessed within 300 feet of the boundary of 
the property in question, and to the occupants of all structures within 300 feet regardless of 
whether the property or occupant is located on the zoning district. Such notice shall be given 
not less than 15 days before the public hearing scheduled the date the application will be 
considered for approval. If the name of the occupant is not known, the term "occupant" may be 
used in making notification. Such notification shall be made in accordance with the provisions 
of section 103 of Michigan Public Act 110 of 2006, as amended. Accordingly, the notice shall:  

1.  Describe the nature of the planned unit development project requested.  

2.  Indicate the property which is the subject of the request. The notice shall include a 
listing of all existing street addresses within the property. Street addresses do not need to 
be created and listed if no such addresses currently exist within the property. If there are no 
street addresses, other means of identification may be used.  

3.  State when and where the planned unit development project will be considered and the 
public hearing will be held.  

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 25 of 31



  

CPD Zoning Ordinance Amendments  DRAFT February 24, 2026 
City of Walled Lake, MI  Page 5 

4.  Indicate when and where written comments will be received concerning the request.  

c.  After the public hearing, the planning commission shall report its findings and make its 
recommendations to the city council. The planning commission shall review the proposed Plan 
and make a determination whether:  

1.  The CPD proposal satisfies the CPD qualification criteria.  

2.  The CPD proposal promotes the land use goals and objectives of the city.  

3.  The CPD proposal meets all applicable provisions of this article and chapter. Insofar as 
any provisions of this article are in conflict with the provisions of any other section of this 
chapter, the provisions of this article shall apply to the lands within an approved CPD.  

(3)  Final approval of commercial planned development.  

a.  Upon receipt of the report and recommendation of the planning commission, the city council 
shall review all findings. If the city council determines that approval would be appropriate, it 
shall instruct the city attorney to prepare a contract setting forth the conditions upon which such 
approval is based. Such conditions shall include, where appropriate, identification of the phases 
and time table for development, and an estimate of the costs of implementing each phase. After 
approval by resolution of the city council, the contract shall be executed by the city and the 
applicant and recorded in the county records. Approval shall be granted only upon the city 
council determining that all qualification requirements, conditions of approval, and provisions of 
this and other city ordinances have been met, and that the proposed development will not 
adversely affect the public health, welfare and safety. Approval shall further be subjected to the 
condition that the contract will be properly recorded.  

b.  Approval of a CPD site plan shall be effective upon recording the contract and filing proof of 
recording with the city clerk.  

c.  Once an area has been included, within the boundaries of an approved CPD, no development 
may take place in the CPD except in accordance with the city council-approved CPD site plan.  

d.  Prior to any development within the area involved, an approved CPD site plan may be 
terminated by the applicant or the applicant's successors or assigns, by filing with the city and 
recording in the county records an affidavit so stating. The approval of the plan shall terminate 
upon such recording.  

e.  No approved plan shall be terminated after development commences except with the approval 
of the city council and of all parties having an equity interest in the land.  

f.  Site plan approval granted pursuant to approval of a CPD plan shall remain valid for a period of 
two years from the date of approval. If required city permits have not been issued and work 
lawfully commenced within this two-year period, the city council may terminate and revoke the 
CPD plan approval and contract by written notice to the owner and recording an affidavit in the 
county records.  

g.  Approval of a CPD site plan under this article shall be considered an optional method of 
development and improvement of property subject to the mutual agreement of the city and the 
applicant.  

The approval of a commercial planned development application shall require an amendment to the zoning 
ordinance to revise the zoning map and designate the subject property as CPD Planned Unit Development by the 
use of an asterisk or other labeling method that notes the underlying zoning and the new CPD designation.. 
Approval granted under this article, including all aspects of the final plan and conditions imposed on it, shall 
constitute an inseparable part of the zoning amendment. 

(1) General application requirements. The application for commercial planned development shall be made on 
the forms and according to the guidelines approved by the planning commission. The application shall be 
submitted to the department of building and community development and shall be accompanied by the 
necessary fees and documents as specified in this section. The applicant or a designated representative 

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 26 of 31



  

CPD Zoning Ordinance Amendments  DRAFT February 24, 2026 
City of Walled Lake, MI  Page 6 

shall be present at all scheduled review meetings or consideration of the plan may be tabled due to lack 
of representation.  

 

(2) Planning Commission CPD Preliminary plan review. Commercial planned development projects shall 
obtain site plan approval from the Planning Commission as outlined in Section 51-21.28(a) through (d) 
and as outlined in this subsection.  

 

a. Information required for preliminary review. The information required for preliminary site plan review 
shall be provided according to the requirements of Section 51-21.28(g) and the following additional 
required items. 
 

1. Traffic Impact Study. The applicant shall submit a traffic impact study that includes, but is not 
limited to, the amount of traffic proposed uses in the CPD will generate, the overall impact on 
adjacent roads as well as other information as required by industry standard. 

2.  Economic Impact Study. The applicant shall submit an economic impact study that includes, but 
is not limited to, the number of jobs generated by the proposed uses as well as other information 
as required by industry standard. 

 

b. Professional review. The plan shall be transmitted to the city planner, city engineer, and city 
department heads for review, who shall prepare and transmit reports to the planning commission 
stating their findings and conclusions.  

 

c. Public hearing. The planning commission shall hold at least one public hearing on any commercial 
planned development proposal before it is approved.  

 

1. Notice requirements. Notice of the public hearing shall be published in a newspaper which 
circulates in the city, and sent by mail or personal delivery to the owners of property for which 
approval is being considered, to all persons to whom real property is assessed within 300 feet of 
the boundary of the property in question, and to the occupants of all structures within 300 feet 
regardless of whether the property or occupant is located in the zoning district. Such notice shall 
be given not less than 15 days before the date the application will be considered for approval. If 
the name of the occupant is not known, the term "occupant" may be used in making notification. 
Such notification shall be made in accordance with the provisions of section 103 of Michigan 
Public Act 110 of 2006, as amended. Accordingly, the notice shall:  

i. Describe the nature of the commercial planned development project requested.  

ii. Indicate the property which is the subject of the request. The notice shall include a listing of 
all existing street addresses within the property. Street addresses do not need to be created 
and listed if no such addresses currently exist within the property. If there are no street 
addresses, other means of identification may be used.  

iii. State when and where the commercial planned development project will be considered and 
the public hearing will be held.  

iv. Indicate when and where written comments will be received concerning the request.  

d. CPD preliminary plan review standards. The Planning Commission shall review the CPD preliminary 
site plan, together with any reports and recommendations from staff, consultants and other reviewing 
agencies and any public comments. The Planning Commission shall determine the plan’s compliance 
with the following sections: 

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 27 of 31



  

CPD Zoning Ordinance Amendments  DRAFT February 24, 2026 
City of Walled Lake, MI  Page 7 

1. The eligibility criteria of Section 51-30.02 

2. The site plan approval standards of Section 51-28(f) 

3. All other applicable zoning ordinance standards.  

e. Planning Commission CPD preliminary plan action. The Planning Commission is authorized to 
postpone, approve, approve subject to conditions, or deny the CPD Preliminary site plan as follows: 

1. Postponement. Upon determination by the Planning Commission that a CPD Preliminary site plan 
is not sufficiently complete for approval or denial or upon a request by the applicant, the Planning 
Commission may postpone consideration until a later meeting. 

2. Approval. Upon determination that a CPD Preliminary site plan is in compliance with the 
requirements of this ordinance and other applicable ordinances and laws, the CPD Preliminary 
site plan shall be approved. The planning commission shall prepare and transmit a report to the 
city council stating its conclusions and recommendation. 

3. Approval subject to conditions. The Planning Commission may approve a CPD Preliminary site 
plan, subject to one or more conditions necessary to address minor modifications to the site plan, 
upon a determination that the PUD Preliminary site plan will be in compliance with the 
requirements of this ordinance once the specified conditions have been complied with. The 
applicant shall be required to submit a revised plan that complies with all conditions of approval. 
Once all conditions of approval are met, the CPD Preliminary plan may continue in the review 
process. The planning commission shall prepare and transmit a report to the city council stating 
its conclusions and recommendation and any recommended conditions relating to an affirmative 
decision. 

4. Denial. Upon determination that a CPD Preliminary site plan does not comply with the standards 
and regulations set forth in this ordinance or would require extensive revisions to comply with said 
standards and regulations, the plan shall be denied. If a plan is denied, a written record shall be 
provided to the applicant listing the reasons for such denial. The applicant may subsequently 
refile a corrected CPD Preliminary site plan under the same procedures followed for the initial 
submission. 

(3) City Council CPD Plan Review. Following receipt of the planning commission's report, the application 
shall be placed on the agenda of the next available city council meeting. The city council shall review the 
final plan together with the findings of the planning commission, and, if requested, any reports and 
recommendations from consultants and other reviewing agencies. Following completion of its review, the 
city council shall approve, approve with conditions, or deny a commercial planned development proposal 
in accordance with the guidelines described in the zoning ordinance.  

(4) Planning Commission CPD Final Site Plan Review. Upon receiving City Council CPD plan approval, the 
applicant shall obtain CPD final site plan approval from the Planning Commission.  

a. The applicant shall submit the CPD plans for review and receive the approval of any State or County 
agencies as directed by the City Engineer and/or City Planner.  

b. The applicant shall submit revised CPD plans that have addressed all issues outlined by the City 
Engineer, City Planner and any other professional review obtained by the City.  

c. The Planning Commission shall review the CPD final site plan for compliance with the site plan 
standards of Section 51-21.28(f) and all other applicable zoning ordinance standards. Following 
completion of their review the Planning Commission shall approve, approve with conditions or deny 
the CPD final site plan. 

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 28 of 31



  

CPD Zoning Ordinance Amendments  DRAFT February 24, 2026 
City of Walled Lake, MI  Page 8 

(5) Effect of approval. Approval of a commercial planned development proposal shall constitute an 
amendment to the zoning ordinance. All improvements and use of the site shall be in conformity with the 
commercial planned development amendment and any conditions imposed. Notice of the adoption of the 
amendment shall be published in accordance with the requirements set forth in this chapter. The 
applicant shall record an affidavit with the register of deeds containing the legal description of the entire 
project, specifying the date of approval, and declaring that all future improvements will be carried out in 
accordance with the approved commercial planned development plan unless an amendment thereto is 
adopted by the city upon request of the applicant or their successors.  

(6) Recording of planning commission and city council action. Each action taken with reference to a 
commercial planned development shall be duly recorded in the minutes of the planning commission or 
city council as appropriate. The grounds for the action taken shall also be recorded in the minutes.  

(7) Permits and Construction. Following final approval of the commercial planned development, a building 
permit may be obtained for the entire project or specific phases, in compliance with the approved CPD 
final site plan approval for the project or the phase, as applicable, in accordance with section 51-21.28 
and provided further that the engineering plans for the project or the phase, as applicable, have been 
approved by the city engineer and building official. It shall be the responsibility of the applicant to obtain 
all other applicable city, county, or state permits prior to issuance of a building permit.  

a. Construction shall commence on at least one phase of the project within 24 months of final approval. 
The planning commission may consider a 12-month extension, upon written request from the 
applicant, if it finds that the approved site plan adequately represents current conditions on and 
surrounding the site. The written request for extension must be received prior to the 24-month 
expiration date. In the event that construction has not commenced and a request for extension has 
not been received within 24 months, the city may initiate proceedings to amend the zoning 
classification of the site to return it to the same classification in effect before the commercial planned 
development was approved.  

b. It shall be the responsibility of the owner of a property for which approval has been granted to 
maintain the property in accordance with the approved commercial planned development plan on a 
continuing basis until the property is razed, or until an amendment to the commercial planned 
development is approved. Any property owner who fails to maintain an approved site design shall be 
deemed in violation of this chapter and shall be subject to the penalties appropriate for such violation.  

c. Prior to expansion or conversion of a commercial planned development project to include additional 
land, site plan review and approval shall be required pursuant to the requirements of this article and 
the zoning ordinance.  

(8) Performance guarantee. A performance guarantee shall be deposited with the city to ensure faithful 
completion of improvements, in accordance with section 51-21.30.  

(c)(9)  Amendments to CPD site plan. Proposed amendments or changes to an approved CPD site plan shall 
be submitted to the director of planning and development. If the director determines that the proposed 
modification is minor based on the criteria in section 51-21.28, then the director may approve or deny the 
proposed amendment. If the director denies the proposed modification or determines the proposed 
modification is not minor, and if the applicant then requests further consideration, then the site plan shall be 
reviewed by the planning commission and city council in accordance with the provisions and procedures of 
this section as they relate to final approval of the commercial planned development.  

(d)(10)  Fees. The applicant shall be responsible for all costs associated with processing, amending, or 
terminating a CPD site plan, including, but not necessarily limited to, the costs of review, publication 
notices, and recording. Fees for review of CPD plans under this article shall be established by resolution of 
the city council.  

 

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 29 of 31



CPD Zoning Ordinance Amendments DRAFT February 24, 2026 
City of Walled Lake, MI Page 9 

Section 3.  Severability 

If any section, clause or provision of this ordinance shall be declared to be unconstitutional, void, 
illegal or ineffective by any court of competent jurisdiction, such section, clause or provision declared to 
be unconstitutional, void or illegal shall thereby cease to be a part of this ordinance; but the remainder of 
this ordinance shall stand and be in full force and effect. 

Section 4.  Savings 

All proceedings pending and all rights and liabilities existing, acquired or incurred at the time this 
ordinance takes effect are saved and may be consummated according to the law in force when they are 
commenced. 

Section 5.  Repealer. 

All other ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed only to the 
extent necessary to give this ordinance full force and effect. 

Section 6.  Effective Date. 

The provisions of this ordinance are hereby ordered to take effect following publication as 
provided by the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act, as amended, MCL 125.3101, et seq and in the manner 
prescribed by the Zoning Ordinance and Charter of the City of Walled Lake.  This ordinance is hereby 
declared to have been adopted by the Walled Lake City Council on ______________, 2026 and ordered 
to be given publication in the manner prescribed by the City Charter of the City of Walled Lake. 

AYES: 
NAYS: 
ABSENTS: 
ABSTENTIONS: 

STATE OF MICHIGAN ) 
)ss. 

COUNTY OF OAKLAND ) 

________________________________ ________________________________ 
RICHARD GUNTHER, Mayor JENNIFER STUART, City Clerk 
CITY OF WALLED LAKE  CITY OF WALLED LAKE 

Introduced: _____________ 
Adopted: _____________ 
Effective: _____________ 

City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 30 of 31



City Council Packet March 4, 2026 
Page 31 of 31




